## Infection rates of the LifeSite hemodialysis access system

To the Editor: We have a number of concerns with the report recently published in *Kidney International* by Schwab et al [1] of low infection rates in the LifeSite Hemodialysis Access System. The comparison of two randomized arms, the Tesio-Cath and LifeSite with oxychlorosene groups, with a nonrandomized arm, the LifeSite with isopropyl alcohol group, is of dubious validity.

The infection rate in the Tesio-Cath group was higher than reported elsewhere for temporary hemodialysis access [2]. Four exit-site infections were diagnosed in the Tesio-Cath group, versus none in either LifeSite group. The criteria for diagnosis of exit-site infection were not specified, but apparently did not include a requirement for positive cultures, as one patient with a locally infected Tesio-Cath had a negative culture.

Schwab et al "suggest that long-term venous access may be provided by a subcutaneous device." This may be true, but only in selected patients. The LifeSite device is labeled only for use in hemodialysis as a bridge device to permanent venous access. In a warning letter to Vasca, Inc., the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) noted 129 complaints of death or serious injury related to the LifeSite device, many inadequately reported to the FDA by Vasca. The letter stated that "the majority of reported deaths and many reported injuries occurred in patients who were not candidates for permanent access," and warned about the risks of use "in patients with a history of multiple access failures or access infections, that are catheter dependent for dialysis access, and are not candidates for permanent access placement" [3]. Our experience with the LifeSite system in chronically ill dialysis patients with previous access failures suggests that subcutaneous devices may be much more prone to infection in this population [4].

> JOHN J. ROSS, GEETHA NARAYAN, MICHAEL G. WORTHINGTON, and JAMES A. STROM Boston, Massachusetts

Correspondence to John J. Ross, M.D., Division of Infectious Diseases, Saint Elizabeth's Medical Center, 736 Cambridge St., Boston, MA 02135. E-mail: jrossmd@cchcs.org

## REFERENCES

- 1. SCHWAB SJ, WEISS MA, RUSHTON F, *et al*: Multicenter clinical trial results with the LifeSite hemodialysis access system. *Kidney Int* 62:1026–1033, 2002
- WIVELL W, BETTMANN MA, BAXTER B, et al: Outcomes and performance of the Tesio twin catheter system placed for hemodialysis access. Radiology 221:697–703, 2001
- 3. Department of Health and Human Services: US Food and Drug

Administration. Warning letter. No. NWE-04–02W. http://www.fda.gov/foi/warning\_letters/g2045d.pdf, accessed 23 September 2002

 Ross JJ, NARAUAM G, BERGERON EK, et al: Infections associated with use of the LifeSite hemodialysis access system. Clin Infect Dis 35:93–95, 2002

## **Reply from the Authors**

Dr. Ross and his colleagues raise questions regarding the randomized prospective trial of the LifeSite system. The extension phase of the study used isopropyl alcohol instead of oxychlorosene as the port sterilant. It extended from the initial randomized study and used the catheter group as a retrospective but otherwise identically selected control group. The infection rate in the catheter arm (3.3 per 1000 use days) was similar to other nephrology-conducted prospective studies of hemodialysis catheters (3.9 to 5.5 per 1000 use days) [1–3]

The concern that these port devices will perform worse than the prospective trial when patients are selected who have failed all other permanent vascular access is valid. In the experience of the original Dialyis Outcomes Quality Initiative (DOQI) panel, patients who failed permanent artriovenous access and were dependent on catheterbased access had some of the worst long-term outcome of any subset of hemodialysis patients. Whether ports or other techniques will improve these abysmal catheter outcomes in these patients awaits clinical trials.

As clearly expressed in the study, these port devices require expertise in their placement and training in their use. Placement of these devices in non-internal jugular positions and use by untrained centers should be expected to have higher complication rates.

Catheter access for hemodialysis of and by itself is associated with substantially increased risk of death and hospitalization even when other risk factors are controlled [4]. Development and testing of new venous access devices is essential to improving patient outcomes. Used correctly we believe hemodialysis access ports represent just such an improvement.

STEVE J. SCHWAB, FOR THE AUTHORS

Correspondence to Steve J. Schwab, M.D., Department of Medicine, Medical College of Georgia, 1120 15th St., BI 5076, Augusta, GA.

## REFERENCES

- MARR K, SEXTON D, CONLON P, et al: Catheter related bacteremia and outcome of attempted catheter salvage in patients undergoing hemodialysis. Ann Intern Med 127:275–280, 1997
- DOGRA GK, HERSON H, HUTCHISON B, et al: Prevention of hemodialysis catheter infection using catheter restricted filling with gentamicin and citrate-A randomized trial. J Am Soc Nephrol 13:2133–2139, 2002
- 3. SAAD TF: Bacteremia associated with tunnelled hemodialysis catheters. *Am J Kidney Dis* 34:1114–1124, 1999
- REDAN D, KLASSEN P, FRANKENFIELD DL, et al: National profile of practice patterns for hemodialysis vascular access in the U.S. J Am Soc Nephol 13:2117–2124, 2002